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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF OHIO

WESTERN DIVISION
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,
CASE NO. 1:21-cr-86
Plaintiff,
JUDGE BLACK
VS,
DEFERRED PROSECUTION
FIRSTENERGY CORP., AGREEMENT
Defendant.

The United States Attorney’s Office for the Southern District of Ohio (“USAO-SDOH" or
“government”) and the Defendant, FirstEnergy Corp., by its undersigned representative and
counsel, pursuant to the authority granted by the Board of Directors, agree as follows:

1. Criminal Information and Acceptance of Responsibility:  FirstEnergy Corp.
acknowledges and agrees that the government will file the accompanying Information in
the United States District Court for the Southern District of Ohio charging FirstEnergy
Corp. with conspiracy to commit honest services wire fraud in violation of Title 18, United
States Code, Sections 1343, 1346, 1349, FirstEnergy Corp. knowingly waives any right to
indictment on this charge, as well as all rights to a speedy trial pursuant to the Sixth
Amendment to the United States Constitution, Title 18, United States Code, Section 3161,
and Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 48(b), and agrees to the filing of a joint motion to
toll Section 3161 upon the filing of this Agreement.

FirstEnergy Corp. admits, accepts, and acknowledges that it is responsible under United
States law for the acts of its current and former officers, employees, and agents.
FirstEnergy Corp. admits, accepts, and acknowledges that it is responsible under United
States law for the acts as charged in the Information and as set forth in the Statement of
Facts, attached as Attachment A and incorporated by reference into this Agreement, and
that the facts alleged in the Information and described in the Statement of Facts are true
and accurate.

Should the USAO-SDOH pursue the prosecution that is deferred by this Agreement,
FirstEnergy Corp. agrees that it will neither contest the admissibility of nor contradict the
Statement of Facts in any such proceeding, including any trial, guilty plea, or sentencing
proceeding. Neither this Agreement nor the criminal Information is a final adjudication of
the matters addressed in such documents.

2. Elements of the Offense: The elements of the offense set forth in the Information, to
which the Defendant agrees are established by the Statement of Facts, attached as
Attachment A, are as follows:
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Count One, Conspiracy to Commit Honest Services Wire Fraud

A, That two or more persons conspired or agreed to devise a scheme:

1. to defraud the public of its right to the honest services of a public official
through bribery or kickbacks;

[}

that included a material misrepresentation or concealment of a material fact;
3. with the intent to defraud;

4. thatused wire communications in interstate commerce in furtherance of the
scheme:;

B. That the Defendant knowingly and voluntarily joined the conspiracy to defraud:
. That the Defendant intentionally participated in the conspiracy to defraud;

D. That some or all of the acts alleged in the Information occutred in the Southern
District of Ohio, on or about the dates alleged in the Information.

Term of the Agreement: This Agreement shall have a term of three (3) years from the
date on which the fully-executed Agreement is filed with the Court (the “Term”), except
for specific provisions that specify a longer period as described below. FirstEnergy Corp.
agrees, however, that in the event the government determines, in its sole discretion, that
FirstEnergy Corp. has knowingly violated any provision of this Agreement or has failed to
completely perform or fulfill each of its obligations under this Agreement, an extension or
extensions of the Term may be imposed by the government, in its sole discretion, for up to
a total additional time period of one year, without prejudice to the government’s right to
proceed as provided in the breach provisions of this Agreement below. Any extension of
the Agreement extends all terms of this Agreement, including the terms of the reporting
requirement in Attachment C, for an equivalent period. Conversely, in the event the
government finds, in its sole discretion, that there exists a change in circumstances
sufficient to eliminate the need for the reporting requirement in Attachment C, the
Agreement may be terminated early. In such event, FirstEnergy Corp.’s cooperation
obligations described below shall survive until the date upon which all such investigations
and prosecutions are concluded, as determined by the USAO-SDOH.

Relevant Considerations: The government enters into this Agreement based on the
individual facts and circumstances presented by this case, including, FirstEnergy Corp.’s
acceptance of responsibility; early self-reporting in the investigation of the conduct of the
company and its former officers, directors, employees, agents, lobbyists, and consultants,
described more fully below; its implementation of remedial measures, described more fully
below; the payment of a monetary penalty; and the collateral consequences of prosecution,
among others.

(]
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Defendant’s Obligations: Pursuant to this Agreement, FirstEnergy Corp. shall do the

tollowing:

A.

Cooperation. To date, FirstEnergy Corp. has provided substantial cooperation,
including: conducting a thorough internal investigation; proactively identifying
1ssues and facts that would likely be of interest to the government; making regular
factual presentations to the government; sharing information that would not have
been otherwise available to the government; and making such material available to
the government on an expedited basis.

This agreement is contingent upon FirstEnergy Corp.’s continued, full cooperation
with the USAO-SDOH in all matters relating to the conduct described in this
Agreement and other conduct under investigation by the government, until the later
ofthe date the Term ends or the date upon which all investigations and prosecutions
arising out of such conduct are concluded, as determined by the government.

FirstEnergy Corp. agrees that its cooperation shall include, but not be limited to,
the following:

1) Continued full, complete, and truthful cooperation in any matter in
which it is called upon to cooperate by a representative of the USAO-
SDOH;

[§9)

Timely disclosure of all factual information with respect to its activities,
those of its subsidiaries and affiliates, and those of its present and former
directors, officers, employees, agents, lobbyists and consultants,
including any evidence or allegations and internal or external
vestigations, about which the government may iquire;

3) Disclosure of any information, items, records, databases, or data in
FirstEnergy Corp.’s possession, custody, or control or in the possession
or control of any subsidiary or affiliate, wherever located, requested by
the government in connection with the ivestigation or prosecution
relating to any current or former officers, directors, employees, agents,
lobbyists, and consultants;

4) Use of good faith efforts to make available, at FirstEnergy Corp.’s cost,
current and former officers, directors, employees, agents, lobbyists, and
consultants, when requested by the government, to provide additional
information and materials concerning any and all investigations; to
testify, including providing sworn testimony before a grand jury or in a
judicial proceeding; and to be interviewed by law enforcement
authorities. Cooperation under this paragraph includes identification of
witnesses who, to the knowledge of FirstEnergy Corp., may have
material information regarding these matters;

5) Disclosure of information, materials, and testimony, at FirstEnergy
Corp.’s cost, as necessary or as requested by the USAO-SDOH to

3
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establish authenticity, or other basis for the admission into evidence in
any criminal or judicial proceeding;

6) With respect to any information, testimony, documents, records or other
tangible evidence provided to the government pursuant to this
Agreement, FirstEnergy Corp. consents to any and all disclosures to
other governmental authorities of such materials as the government, in
its sole discretion, shall deem appropriate.

7) Promptly report any evidence or allegation of a violation of U.S.
criminal law by FirstEnergy Corp. to the USAO-SDOH. On the date
that the Term expires, FirstEnergy Corp., by its Chief Executive Officer
and Chief Financial Officer, will certify to the government that
FirstEnergy Corp. has met its disclosure obligations pursuant to this
Agreement. Each certification will be deemed a material statement and
representation by FirstEnergy Corp. to the executive branch of the
United States for purposes of 18 U.S.C. § 1001.

FirstEnergy Corp.’s cooperation pursuant to this paragraph is subject to applicable
law and regulations, as well as valid claims of attorney-client privilege, settlement
privilege, or attorney work product doctrine; however, FirstEnergy Corp. must
provide to the government a log of any information or cooperation that is not
provided based on an assertion of law, regulation, privilege, or attorney work
product, and FirstEnergy Corp. bears the burden of establishing the validity of any
such assertion.

Failure to provide full, complete, and truthful cooperation as described above will
constitute a violation of this Agreement. The parties agree that the USAO-SDOH,
m its sole discretion, will determine if FirstEnergy Corp. has violated this
Agreement by failing to provide full, complete, and truthful cooperation.

B. Payment of a Monetary Penalty. FirstEnergy Corp. agrees to pay a criminal
monetary penalty totaling $230,000,000. This amount reflects 1) a discount for
FirstEnergy Corp.’s substantial remediation, self-reporting, and cooperation as set
forth in this Agreement; 2) the collateral consequences of imposition of a greater
penalty; 3) and the difficulty of quantifying with precision the benefits resulting
from some official action.

Within sixty (60) days of the filing of this Agreement, FirstEnergy Corp. shall pay
$115,000,000 to the United States Treasury.

Within sixty (60) days of the filing of this Agreement, FirstEnergy Corp. shall pay
$115,000,000 to the Ohio Development Service Agency’s Percentage of Income
Payment Plan Plus program for the benefit of Ohio electric-utility customers. If the
Ohio Development Service Agency’s Percentage of Income Payment Plan Plus
program is unable or unwilling to accept the funds, FirstEnergy Corp. shall pay the
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$115,000,000 to the United States Treasury after consultation with the USAO-
SDOH.

Nothing in the Agreement shall be deemed an agreement regarding a maximum
penalty that may be imposed in any future prosecution, and the government is not
precluded from arguing in any future prosecution that the Court should impose a
higher fine, disgorgement, or civil or criminal forfeiture, although the government
agrees that under those circumstances, it will recommend to the Court that any
amount paid under this Agreement should be offset against any fine imposed as part
ofa future judgment. FirstEnergy Corp. agrees that no tax deduction may be sought
in connection with the payment of any part of the monetary penalty, and
FirstEnergy Corp. may not seek to recover any portion of the monetary penalty
from customers, directly or indirectly. Without the prior approval of the USAO-
SDOH, FirstEnergy Corp. shall not seek or accept directly or indirectly
reimbursement or indemnification from any source with regard to the monetary
penalty amount or any other amount it pays pursuant to any other agreement entered
mto with an enforcement authority or regulator concerning the facts set forth in the
Statement of Facts.

The USAO-SDOH agrees, except as provided in this Agreement, that it will not
bring any criminal or civil case (except for tax cases, as to which the government
does not make any agreement) against FirstEnergy Corp. or any of its present
subsidiaries or affiliates relating to any of the conduct described in the attached
Statement of Facts, or to conduct self-reported to the USAO-SDOH by FirstEnergy
Corp. in the investigation. The government, however, may use any information
related to the conduct described in the attached Statement of Facts against
FirstEnergy Corp.: (a) in a prosecution for perjury or obstruction of justice; (b) in
a prosecution for making a false statement; or (c) in a prosecution or other
proceeding relating to a violation of any provision of Title 26 of the United States
Code. This Agreement does not provide any protection against prosecution for any
future conduct by FirstEnergy Corp. or any of its present or former parents or
subsidiaries. In addition, this Agreement does not provide any protection against
prosecution of any individuals, regardless of their affiliation with FirstEnergy Corp.
or with any of its present or former parents or subsidiaries.

C. Forfeiture. The USAO-SDOH has determined that it could institute a criminal or
civil forfeiture proceeding against the following funds that passed through accounts
controlled by FirstEnergy Corp. (the “subject property™):

* (Contents of PNC Bank, Account No. ending in 5348, in the name of
Partners for Progress Inc. in the amount of $6,366.,476.29; and

* (Contents of PNC Bank, Account No. ending in 3639, in the name of
Partners for Progress Inc. in the amount of $108,960.32.

th
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FirstEnergy Corp. hereby acknowledges that the subject property constitutes or is
derived from proceeds traceable to conspiracy to commit honest services wire
fraud, 1n violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1343, 1346, and 1349,
as charged in the Information and set forth in the Statement of Facts; therefore, the
subject property is forfeitable to the United States pursuant to Title 18, United
States Code, Section 981. FirstEnergy Corp. hereby agrees to settle and does settle
all civil and criminal forfeiture claims presently held by the USAO-SDOH against
the subject property. FirstEnergy Corp. agrees that the subject property shall be
forfeited to the United States pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 981;
releases all claims it may have to such property; waives any right to notice of
forfeiture it may have under the law; and waives any right it may have to seek
remission or mitigation of the forfeiture.

D. Transparency in Corporate Contributions. Within 30 days of the execution of
this Agreement, FirstEnergy Corp. shall publish a list of (1) all payments, if any,
made in 2021 to entities incorporated under 26 U.S.C. § 501(c)(4) (*“501(c)(4)”
entities) and (2) all payments, if any, made in 2021 to entities known by FirstEnergy
Corp. to be operating for the benefit of a public official, either directly or indirectly.
FirstEnergy Corp. shall update the list on a quarterly basis for the Term of this
Agreement. The list shall include the following information: the entity’s name and
address, date of contribution, amount of contribution, and purpose of contribution.
The list shall be labeled ““Corporate Contributions™ and accessible on FirstEnergy’s
webpage (www.firstenergycorp.com). The accessibility of the list is subject to the
prior approval of undersigned government counsel.

E. Issuance of Public Statement. FirstEnergy Corp. shall publish a press release for
broad public distribution and posting on FirstEnergy Corp.’s website, which
includes the following statement:

Central to FirstEnergy’'s Corp.’s effort to influence the
legislative process in Ohio was the use of 501(c)(4) corporate
entities. FirstEnergy Corp. used the 501(c)(4) corporate form as a
mechanism to conceal payments for the benefit of public officials
and in return for official action. FirstEnergy Corp. used 501(c)(4)
entities in this way because the law does not require disclosure of
donors to a 501(c)(4) and there is no ceiling that limits the amount
of expenditures that can be paidto a 501(c)(4) entity for the purpose
of influencing the legislative process. This effort would not have
been possible, both in the nature and volume of money provided,
without the use of a 501(c)(4) entity.

F. Remediation, Corporate Compliance Program, and Reporting. FirstEnergy
Corp. represents that it has implemented and will continue to implement a
compliance and ethics program designed, implemented, and enforced to prevent
and detect violations of the U.S. laws throughout its operations, including those of
its subsidiaries, affiliates, agents, and joint ventures, and those of its contractors
and subcontractors whose responsibilities include accounting, financial reporting,

6
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lobbying, government relations, consulting, and interactions with candidates for
public office, public officials, and governmental agencies including, but not limited
to, the minimum elements set forth in Attachment B.

FirstEnergy Corp. further represents that it has implemented four broad categories
of remedial measures, including: (1)employment consequences for executives and
employees who engaged in misconduct, (2) enhancements to Company’s
compliance program, (3) improvements to the Company’s policies and procedures,
and (4) monetary remediation to ratepayers. The specific changes implemented
include, but are not limited to, the following:

e Establishing an Executive Director role for the Board of Directors,
whichsupports the development of enhanced controls and governance
policies and procedures;

* Hiring a new Chief Legal Officer, who oversees the Company’s Legal
and Internal Audit departments;

e Separating the Chief Legal Officer and Chief Ethics/Compliance
Officer functions, and hiring a new Chief Ethics and Compliance
Officer, who reports directly to the Audit Committee of the Board and
administratively to the Chief Legal Officer;

e Working to establishing a culture of ethics, integrity, and accountability
at every level of the organization;

e Creating a Compliance Oversight Subcommittee of the Audit
Committeeto implement compliance recommendations received from
outside counseland enhanced compliance trainings; and

e Reviewing and revising political activity and lobbying/consulting
policies, including requiring robust disclosures about lobbying
activities.

In order to address any deficiencies in its internal controls, policies, and procedures,
FirstEnergy Corp. represents that it will continue to undertake in the future, in a
manner consistent with all of its obligations under this Agreement, a review of its
internal controls, policies, and procedures regarding compliance with U.S. law.
Where necessary and appropriate, FirstEnergy Corp. agrees to adopt a new
compliance program, or to modify its existing one, to ensure that it maintains a
system of internal controls designed to effectively detect and deter violations of
U.S. law. The compliance program will include, but not be limited to, the minimum
elements set forth in Attachment B.

G. Public Statements by the Company. FirstEnergy Corp. agrees that if it or any of
its affiliates or subsidiaries issues a press release or holds any press conference in
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connection with this Agreement, FirstEnergy Corp. shall first consult the
government to determine (1) whether the text of the release or proposed statements
at the press conference are true and accurate with respect to matters relating to this
Agreement; and (2) whether the government has any objection to the release on
those grounds.

FirstEnergy Corp. expressly agrees that it shall not, through present or future
attorneys, officers, directors, employees, agents or any other person authorized to
speak for FirstEnergy Corp., make any public statement, in litigation or otherwise,
contradicting the acceptance of responsibility by FirstEnergy Corp. set forth above
or the facts described in the attached Statement of Facts. Any such contradictory
statement shall, subject to cure rights described below, constitute a violation of this
Agreement, and FirstEnergy Corp. thereafter shall be subject to prosecution as set
forth below in paragraph 7.

The decision as to whether any public statement contradicting a fact contained in
the Statement of Facts will be imputed to FirstEnergy Corp. for the purpose of
determining whether it has violated this Agreement shall be at the sole discretion
of the USAO-SDOH. If USAO-SDOH determines that a public statement
contradicted in whole or in part a statement contained in the Statement of Facts,
USAO-SDOH shall so notify FirstEnergy Corp., and FirstEnergy Corp. may avoid
a breach of this Agreement by publicly repudiating such statement(s) within five
(5) business after notification.

This Agreement does not prohibit FirstEnergy Corp. from raising defenses or
asserting affirmative claims in civil litigation or regulatory proceedings relating to
the matters set forth in the Statement of Facts, provided that such defenses and
claims do not contradict in whole or in part, a statement contained in the Statement
of Facts.

This Agreement does not apply to any statement made by any present or former
officer, director, employee, or agent of FirstEnergy Corp. in the course of any
criminal, regulatory, or civil case initiated against such individual, unless such
mdividual is speaking on behalf of FirstEnergy Corp.

Changes in Corporate Form. Except as may otherwise be agreed by the USAO-
SDOH and FirstEnergy Corp. in connection with a particular transaction,
FirstEnergy Corp. agrees that in the event that, during the term of any of its
obligations under this Agreement, it undertakes any change in corporate form,
including applymg for bankruptcy protection or if it sells, merges, or transfers
business operations that are material to FirstEnergy Corp. as they exist as of the
date of this Agreement, whether such transaction is structured as a sale, asset sale,
merger, transfer, or other change in corporate form, it shall include in any contract
for sale, merger, transfer, or other change in corporate form a provision binding the
purchaser, or any successor in interest thereto, to the obligations described in this
Agreement. The purchaser or successor in interest must also agree in writing that
the USAO-SDOH’s ability to determine there has been a breach under this

o0
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Agreement 1s applicable in full force to that entity. FirstEnergy Corp. agrees that
the failure to include this Agreement’s violation provisions in the transaction will
make any such transaction null and void.

FirstEnergy Corp. shall provide notice to the USAO-SDOH at least sixty (60) days
prior to the consummation of any such sale, merger, transfer, or other change in
corporate form. The USAO-SDOH shall notify FirstEnergy Corp. at least fifteen
(15) days prior to the consummation of such transaction (or series of transactions)
if 1t determines that the transaction(s) will have the effect of circumventing or
frustrating the enforcement purposes of this Agreement. If at any time during the
Term FirstEnergy Corp. engages in a transaction(s) that has the effect of
circumventing or frustrating the enforcement purposes of this Agreement, the
USAO-SDOH may deem it a violation of this Agreement pursuant to the violation
provisions of this Agreement. Nothing herein shall restrict FirstEnergy Corp. from
indemnifying (or otherwise holding harmless) the purchaser or successor in interest
for penalties or other costs arising from any conduct that may have occurred prior
to the date of the transaction, so long as such indemnification does not have the
effect of circumventing or frustrating the enforcement purposes of this Agreement,
as determined by the USAO-SDOH.

Obligations of the USAO (Deferred Prosecution): In consideration of: (a) FirstEnergy
Corp.’s past and future cooperation as described above; (b) FirstEnergy Corp.’s payment
of a monetary penalty of $230,000,000; (c) FirstEnergy Corp.’s adoption and maintenance
of remedial measures, and review and audit of such measures, including the compliance
undertakings described in Attachment B; and (d) other obligations specified in this
Agreement, the USAO-SDOH agrees to request that the United States District Court for
the Southern District of Ohio defer proceedings on the charge in the Information pursuant
to Title 18, United States Code, Section 3161(h)(2), for the Term of this Agreement.

The USAO-SDOH further agrees that if FirstEnergy Corp. fully complies with all of its
obligations under this Agreement, the government will not continue the criminal
prosecution against FirstEnergy Corp. described in Paragraph 1. Within thirty (30) days of
the successtul completion of the Term, FirstEnergy’s obligations pursuant to paragraphs 5
(B), (C) (E) and (F) will end. FirstEnergy’s remaining obligations under paragraph 5 will
continue until the completion of any investigation, criminal prosecution, or civil
proceeding brought by the USAO-SDOH related to any conduct set forth in the Statement
of Facts. Within 30 days of the completion of any related investigation, criminal
prosecution, and civil proceeding, the USAO-SDOH shall seek dismissal of the
Information filed against FirstEnergy Corp., which will terminate the remainder of
FirstEnergy Corp.’s obligations under this Agreement.

The USAO-SDOH further agrees, if requested to do so, to bring to the attention of
governmental and other authorities the facts and circumstances relating to the nature of the
conduct underlying this Agreement, and the nature and quality of FirstEnergy’s
cooperation and remediation. By agreeing to the provide this information, if requested to
do so, the USAO-SDOH is not agreeing to advocate on behalf of the FirstEnergy Corp.,
but rather is agreeing to provide facts to be evaluated independently by other authorities.

9
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Violation of the Agreement: If the USAO-SDOH determines that FirstEnergy Corp. (a)
committed any crime under U.S. law during the Term of this Agreement; (b) at any time,
provided in connection with this Agreement deliberately false, incomplete, or misleading
information, including in connection with a disclosure of information about individual
culpability — even if the USAO-SDOH becomes aware of such conduct after the Term of
this Agreement; or (c) otherwise violated its obligations under this Agreement — even if the
USAO-SDOH becomes aware of the violation after the Term of this Agreement, at the
USAO-SDOH’s discretion, FirstEnergy Corp. shall thereafter be subject to prosecution for
any federal criminal violation of which the USAO-SDOH has knowledge, including the
charges in the Information described in Paragraph 1. Any such prosecution may be
premised on information provided by FirstEnergy Corp. prior or subsequent to the signing
of this Agreement. In addition, the parties agree as follows:

A. Determination of Violation. The parties agree that the USAO-SDOH has the sole
discretion to determine whether FirstEnergy Corp. has violated this Agreement.

B. Statute of Limitations. Any such prosecution that is not time-barred by the applicable
statute of limitations on the date of the signing of this Agreement may be commenced
against FirstEnergy Corp. notwithstanding the expiration of the statute of limitations
between the signing of this Agreement and the expiration of the period described above
in Paragraph 3 plus one year. Thus, by signing this Agreement, FirstEnergy Corp.
agrees that the statute of limitations with respect to any such prosecution that is not
time-barred on the date of the signing of this Agreement shall be tolled for the period
described in Paragraph 3 plus one year.

In addition, FirstEnergy Corp. agrees that the statute of limitations as to any violation
of U.S. law that occurs during the Term will be tolled from the date upon which the
violation occurs until the earlier of the date upon which the government 1s made aware
of the violation or the duration of the Term plus five years, and that this period shall be
excluded from any calculation of time for purposes of the application of the statute of
limitations.

C. Written Notice. In the event the government determines that FirstEnergy Corp. has
breached this Agreement, the government agrees to provide FirstEnergy Corp. with
written notice of such breach prior to instituting any prosecution resulting from such
breach. Within thirty (30) days of receipt of such notice, FirstEnergy Corp. shall have
the opportunity to respond to the government in writing to explain the nature and
circumstances of such breach, as well as the actions FirstEnergy Corp. has taken to
address and remediate the situation, which explanation the government shall consider
in determining whether to pursue prosecution of FirstEnergy Corp.

D. Admissibility of Statements. In the event that the government determines that
FirstEnergy Corp. has breached this Agreement; (1) all statements made by or on
behalf of FirstEnergy Corp. or its affiliates or subsidiaries to the government or to the
Court, including the attached Statement of Facts, and any testimony given before a
grand jury, a court, or any tribunal, or at any legislative hearings, and any leads or
evidence derived from such statements or testimony, shall be admissible in evidence in

10
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any criminal proceeding brought by the government against FirstEnergy Corp. or its
affiliates or subsidiaries; and (b) FirstEnergy Corp. or its affiliates or subsidiaries shall
not assert any claim under the United States Constitution, Rule 11(f) of the Federal
Rules of Criminal Procedure, Rule 410 of the Federal Rules of Evidence, or any other
federal rule that any such statements or testimony made by or on behalf of FirstEnergy
Corp. or its affiliates or subsidiaries prior or subsequent to this Agreement, or any leads
or evidence derived theretfrom, should be suppressed or are otherwise inadmissible. The
decision whether conduct or statements of any current director, officer or employee, or
any person acting on behalf of, or at the direction of, FirstEnergy Corp. or its affiliates
or subsidiaries, will be imputed to FirstEnergy Corp. for the purpose of determining
whether FirstEnergy Corp. has violated any provision of this Agreement shall be in the
sole discretion of the government.

Limitations of Agreement: This agreement is binding upon FirstEnergy Corp. and the
USAO-SDOH and does not bind (a) other components of the Department of Justice, (b)
other federal agencies, (¢) any state or local law enforcement or regulatory agency.
However, the USAO-SDOH will bring the cooperation of FirstEnergy Corp. and its
compliance with its obligations under this Agreement to the attention of any such
authorities or agencies if requested to do so by FirstEnergy Corp.

Notice: Any notice to the government under this Agreement shall be given by personal
delivery, overnight delivery by a recognized delivery service, addressed to the United
States Attorney’s Office for the Southern District of Ohio, 221 East Fourth Street, Suite
400, Cincinnati, OH 45213. Any notice to FirstEnergy Corp. shall be given by personal
delivery, overnight delivery by a recognized delivery service, addressed to Chief Executive
Officer, FirstEnergy Corp., 76 South Main Street, Akron, OH 44308, with Copy to the
Chief Legal Officer, FirstEnergy Corp., 76 South Main Street, Akron, OH 44308.

Entire Agreement: This agreement, along with any attachment(s), is the complete
agreement between the parties. It supersedes all other promises, representations,
understandings, and agreements between the parties. No amendments, modifications, or
additions to this Agreement shall be valid unless they are in writing and signed by the
government, the attorneys for FirstEnergy Corp., and a duly authorized representative of
FirstEnergy Corp.

VIPAL 1. PATEL
Acting United States Attorney

Enily - Mlatjelik | Hattheer OSunger
EMILY N. GLATFELTER b
MATTHEW C. SINGER
Assistant United States Attorneys
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CORPORATE OFFICER’S CERTIFICATE

I have read this Agreement and carefully reviewed every part of it with outside counsel for
FirstEnergy Corp. I understand it, I voluntarily agree to it, on behalf of FirstEnergy Corp. Before
signing this Agreement, I consulted outside counsel for FirstEnergy Corp. Counsel fully advised
me of the rights of FirstEnergy Corp., of possible defenses, of the applicable Sentencing
Guidelines’ provisions, and of the consequences of entering into this Agreement.

I also carefully reviewed the terms of this Agreement with the FirstEnergy Corp. Board of
Directors. 1 have advised and caused outside counsel for FirstEnergy Corp. to advise the Board of
Directors fully of the rights of FirstEnergy Corp., of possible defenses, of the applicable
Sentencing Guidelines’ provisions, and of the consequences of entering into the Agreement. I
acknowledge, on behalf of FirstEnergy Corp., that I am completely satisfied with the
representation of counsel.

By signing below, [ certify that no promises or inducements have been made other than
those contained in this Agreement. Furthermore, no one has threatened or forced me, or any other
person authorized this Agreement on behalf of FirstEnergy Corp., in any way to enter into this
Agreement. I also certify that [ am an officer of FirstEnergy Corp. and that I have been duly
authorized by FirstEnergy Corp. to execute this Agreement on behalf.

July 20, 2021 ,%/17 éﬁy{

Date Steven E. Strah, Prefident & CEO
FIRSTENERGY CORP.
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CERTIFICATE OF COUNSEL

We are counsel for FirstEnergy Corp. in the matter covered by this Agreement. In
connection with such representation, we have examined carefully the relevant FirstEnergy Corp.
records and have discussed the terms of this Agreement with Steven E. Strah, President & Chief
Executive Officer, and the FirstEnergy Corp. Board of Directors. Based upon our review of the
foregoing matters and discussions with FirstEnergy Corp. and its Board of Directors, we are of the
opinion that the representative of FirstEnergy Corp. has been duly authorized to enter into this
Agreement on behalf of FirstEnergy Corp. and that this Agreement has been duly and validly
authorized, executed, and delivered on behalf of FirstEnergy Corp. and is a valid and binding
obligation of FirstEnergy Corp.. Further, we have carefully reviewed the terms of this Agreement
with the FirstEnergy Corp. Board of Directors and the Chief Executive Officer of FirstEnergy
Corp. We have fully advised them of the rights of FirstEnergy Corp., of possible defenses, of the
Sentencing Guidelines' provisions and of the consequences of entering into this Agreement. To
our knowledge, the decision of FirstEnergy Corp. to enter into this Agreement, based on the
authorization of its Board of Directors, is an informed and voluntary one.

o~

July 20, 2021 Ao < YD
Date Stephen G, Sozio

James R. Wooley

Adam Hollingsworth

JONES DAY

North Point

901 Lakeside Avenue
Cleveland, OH 44114

Phone: +1.216.586.3939
sgsozio(@jonesday.com
jrwooley@jonesday.com
ahollingsworth@jonesday.com
Attorneys for FirstEnergy Corp.
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ATTACHMENT A:
STATEMENT OF FACTS

The United States and FirstEnergy Corp. stipulate and agree that if this case proceeded to
trial, the United States would prove the facts set forth below bevond a reasonable doubt. They
Sfurther stipulate and agree that these are not all of the facts that the United States would prove if
this case had proceeded to trial.

The following Statement of Facts 1s incorporated by reference as part of the Deferred
Prosecution Agreement (the “Agreement”) between the United States Attorney’s Office for the
Southern District of Ohio and FirstEnergy Corp. FirstEnergy Corp. hereby agrees and stipulates
that the following information is true and accurate. FirstEnergy Corp. admits, accepts, and
acknowledges that it is responsible for the acts of its current and former officers, directors,
employees, and agents. FirstEnergy Corp. admits, accepts, and acknowledges that it is responsible
for the conduct set forth below.

FirstEnergy Corp. 1s an Akron, Ohio-based public utility holding company. During the
relevant period (2016 until in or about February 2020), FirstEnergy Corp. was the parent company
to entities involved in energy generation, including the entity formerly known as FirstEnergy
Solutions (“FES™). As of November 16, 2016, FES had a separate and independent Board of
Directors from FirstEnergy Corp., and on March 31, 2018, FES filed for Chapter 11 bankruptcy
protections. FirstEnergy Corp. also serves as the parent company for FirstEnergy Service
Company (“FirstEnergy Service”), which provided financial and other corporate support services
to FirstEnergy Corp. and its subsidiaries.

FirstEnergy Corp. and its subsidiaries are subject to civil enforcement by the Securities and
Exchange Commission (“SEC”), and are regulated directly by the Federal Energy Regulatory
Commussion (“FERC"), which is an independent agency within the United States Department of
Energy (“DOE”). FirstEnergy Corp.’s Ohio utility subsidiaries are regulated directly by the Public
Utilities Commission of Ohio (“PUCO™).
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I. Relevant Entities and Individuals

Executive | served in senior executive positions for FirstEnergy Corp. and FirstEnergy

Service from approximately 2015 to October 2020.

Executive 2 served in a senior executive position from approximately 2011 until October

2020.

Partners for Progress, Inc. was incorporated in Delaware on or about February 6, 2017,

weeks after certain FirstEnergy Corp. senior executives traveled with Public Official A on the
FirstEnergy Corp. jet to the presidential inauguration in January 2017. On or about February 8,
2017, Partners for Progress registered as a foreign nonprofit corporation in Ohio, specifically as a
501(c)(4) entity “to engage in activities consistent with those permitted of an organization exempt

from tax under Section 501(c)(4) of the Internal Revenue Code....”

Although Partners for Progress appeared to be an independent 501(c)(4) on paper, in
reality, it was controlled in part by certain former FirstEnergy Corp. executives, who funded it and
directed its payments to entities associated with public officials. For example, FirstEnergy Corp.
executives directed the formation of Partners for Progress and decided to incorporate the entity in
Delaware, rather than Ohio, because Delaware law made it more difficult for third parties to learn
background information about the entity. Certain FirstEnergy Corp. executives were also involved
in choosing the three directors of Partners for Progress, two of whom were FirstEnergy Corp.
lobbyists. Before Partners for Progress was formally organized, Executive 2 directed that $5
million be designated for an unnamed 501(c)(4) in December 2016.

FirstEnergy Corp. exclusively funded Partners for Progress through payments from
FirstEnergy Service, which totaled approximately $25 million between 2017 and 2019,

approximately $15 million of which was paid to Generation Now. Certain former FirstEnergy
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Corp. executives directed Partners for Progress to make payments in 2018, 2019, and 2020,
mcluding payments to Generation Now, which helped conceal FirstEnergy Corp. as the source of
the payments from the public.

Public Official A represented the State of Ohio’s 72 District in the Ohio House of

Representatives since January 2017. Public Official A served as the Speaker of the Ohio House
of Representatives from January 7, 2019 to July 30, 2020.

Between 2017 and March 2020, FirstEnergy Service paid more than $59 million
($16,904,330.86 attributed to FirstEnergy Corp. and $43,092,505 attributed to FES) to Generation
Now — a purported 501(c)(4), which FirstEnergy Corp. knew was operated for the benefit of and
controlled by Public Official A, upon its inception in early 2017. For example, on March 7, 2017,
Individual A emailed wiring instructions for Generation Now to Executive 2, noting that **/z/his is
the organization that [Executive 1] and [Public Official A] discussed.” In response, Executive 2
forwarded the email internally, and carbon copied Individual A, stating, ““Let’s do 3250,000 asap
and we will do 81 M by vear-end 2017.” Similarly, on August 1, 2017, Executive 2 asked, “4re we
at $500k for the ¢(4) now?” to which Individual A replied, “Yes.”

Public Official B was the Chairman of the Public Utilities Commission of Ohio (“PUCO™)

from April 2019 until November 21, 2020, when he resigned. PUCO regulates FirstEnergy Corp.’s
Ohio utility subsidiaries. Prior to serving as the Chairman of PUCO, Public Official B worked for
a private law firm and served as the general counsel for an industrial group of energy users whose
interests often conflicted with FirstEnergy Corp.’s interests. Public Official B also was the sole
owner of Company | and Company 2, both of which entered a contract with FirstEnergy Corp. in
2010. Public Official B, through Company 1, also entered into a consulting services agreement

with FirstEnergy Corp., through FirstEnergy Service, in 2013. Between 2010 and January 2, 2019,
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FirstEnergy Corp. paid the Company | and Company 2 over $22 million, including $4,333,333,
which was wired on or about January 2, 2019, through FirstEnergy Service to Company 1 for

Public Official B's benefit.

II. Conduct

FirstEnergy Corp., through the acts of its officers, employees, and agents, conspired with
public officials and other individuals and entities to pay millions of dollars to and for the benefit
of public officials in exchange for specific official action for FirstEnergy Corp.’s benefit.

FirstEnergy Corp. paid millions of dollars to Public Official A through his 501(c)(4),
Generation Now, in return for Public Official A pursuing nuclear legislation for FirstEnergy
Corp.’s benefit in his capacity as a public official. Use of 501(c)(4) entities was central to the
scheme because it allowed certain FirstEnergy Corp. executives and co-conspirators to conceal
from the public the nature, source, and control of payments to and for the benefit of Public Official

A.

FirstEnergy Corp. paid $4.3 million dollars to Public Official B through his consulting
company in return for Public Official B performing official action in his capacity as PUCO
Chairman to further FirstEnergy Corp.’s interests relating to passage of nuclear legislation and
other specific FirstEnergy Corp. legislative and regulatory priorities, as requested and as
opportunities arose.

Primary among FirstEnergy Corp.’s priorities was the passage of nuclear legislation.
FirstEnergy Corp. sought official action from Public Official A and Public Official B in the form
of helping draft nuclear legislation that would further the interests of FirstEnergy Corp. and FES
and by pressuring and advising public officials to support nuclear legislation for FirstEnergy

Corp.’s and FES’s benefit. FirstEnergy Corp. prioritized nuclear legislation in part because of the
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“decoupling” provision in House Bill 6 that was pursued by FirstEnergy Corp., along with
FirstEnergy Corp.’s interest in bailing out the Ohio nuclear plants. The decoupling provision
allowed FirstEnergy Corp.'s Ohio electric distribution subsidiaries to receive a fixed amount of
distribution-related revenue from residential and commercial customers based on the 2018
collection period, which was a year of high electricity sales for FirstEnergy Corp. In addition, the
decoupling provision enacted by House Bill 6 allowed FirstEnergy Corp. to continue to recover
lost distribution revenue (“LDR") in a fixed amount based on its 2018 LDR recovery, despite the
elimination of energy efficiency programs in House Bill 6. Decoupling therefore would guarantee
FirstEnergy Corp.’s Ohio electric distribution subsidiaries a fixed amount of revenue by tying its

distribution revenue to the 2018 level and continued collection of LDR.

FirstEnergy Corp. also relied on Public Official B to help FirstEnergy Corp. address its
concern that the future earning power of its Ohio utility subsidiaries would be negatively impacted
by the rate distribution case scheduled for 2024. The electric security plan (“ESP") that
FirstEnergy Corp. and its relevant entities were operating under—ESP IV—was set to terminate
in 2024, at which time FirstEnergy Corp. would be required to file a new rate case. FirstEnergy
Corp. believed that the expiration of ESP IV and filing of the new rate case in 2024 would result
in decreased revenue and negatively impact FirstEnergy Corp.’s financial outlook, and therefore,
sought a “fix for the Ohio hole.” In November 2019, under Public Official B’s leadership, PUCO
terminated the requirement of FirstEnergy Corp.’s Ohio electric distribution subsidiaries to file a

new rate case in 2024.

A. Relevant Background
In 2016, FirstEnergy Corp. reported a bleak outlook with respect to its energy generation

business. In its November 2016 Form 10-Q, FirstEnergy Corp. reported a weak energy market,
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poor forecast demands, and hundreds of millions of dollars in losses, particularly from its nuclear
energy affiliate, FES. FirstEnergy Corp. announced future options for its generation portfolio as
follows: legislative and regulatory solutions for generation assets; asset sales and plant
deactivations; restructuring debt; and/or seeking protection under U.S. bankruptey laws for its
affiliates involved in nuclear generation. FirstEnergy Corp. repeated these options in its 10-K filed
on February 21, 2017 and reported a “substantial uncertainty as to FES’ ability to continue as a
going concern and substantial risk that it may be necessary for FES, and possibly FENOC, to seek
protection under U.S. bankruptcy laws, which would have a material adverse impact on
FirstEnergy's and FES' business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.”
FirstEnergy Corp. further noted that,

| bJased upon continued depressed prices in the wholesale energy
and capacity markets, weak demand for electricity and anemic
demand forecasts, FES' cash flow from operations may be
insufficient to repay its indebtedness or trade pavables in the
long- term. Although management is exploring capital and other
cost reductions, asset sales, and other options to improve cash
flow as well as continuing with legislative efforts to explore a
regulatory tvpe solution, the obligations and their impact to
liquidity raise substantial doubt about FES' ability to meet its
obligations as they come due over the next twelve months and, as
such, its ability to continuie as a going concern.

During FirstEnergy Corp.’s fourth-quarter 2016 earnings conference call on February 22,

2017, Executive 1 focused on legislative and regulatory efforts:

In Ohio, we have had meaningful dialogue with our fellow utilities
and with legislators on solutions that can help ensure Ohio's
future energy security. Our top priority is the preservation of our
two nuclear plants in the state and legislation for a zero emission
nuclear program is expected to be introduced soon. The ZEN
program is intended to give state lawmakers greater control and
[flexibility to preserve valuable nuclear generation. We believe
this legislation would preserve not only zero emission assets but
jobs, economic growth, fuel diversity, price stability, and
reliability and grid security for the region.
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We are advocating for Ohio's support for its two nuclear plants,
even though the likely outcome is that FirstEnergy won't be the
long- term owner o<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>